No. 44566-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Kelvin K. Marshall was charged by information with first-degree burglary with a sexual motivation aggravating factor and one count of fourth-degree assault. CP 1-2; RCW 9.94A.030; RCW 9.94A.533; RCW 9.94A.835; RCW 9A.36.041(1) and (2); RCW 9A.52.020(1)(b). Pretrial and trial proceedings were held before the Honorable Judge Vicki L. Hogan on September 24, November 1 and December 14, 2012, January 3, 10, 15-17, 2013. At the end of the trial, the court granted Marshall's motion to dismiss the fourth-degree assault,

¹The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of five volumes, which will be referred to as follows:

the volume containing the proceedings of November 1, 2012, as "IRP;" the four chronologically paginated volumes containing the proceedings of September 24 and December 14, 2012, January 3, 10, 15-17 and February 22, 2013, as "RP."

prior to the case going to the jury. RP 428. The jury then convicted Marshall of the burglary and of the aggravating factor. CP 193-95.

On February 22, 2013, Judge Hogan imposed a standard-range minimum sentence of 20 months for the underlying offense, consecutive to 24 months for the "sexual motivation" sentencing enhancement. CP 201-16; RP 499. Marshall appealed and this pleading follows. See CP 220.

2. <u>Testimony at trial</u>

Tasha Ann Church and Eddie Sumlin were living together in an apartment in Tacoma on September 2, 2011, when a man Church did not know knocked on her door at about 7:40 or 7:50 in the morning, after Sumlin left for work. RP 216-17, 222, 226, 228. The man at the door said "Vincent" - the manager - had told him to check the pipes, after which the man put his hand on the door and walked in. RP 229. Church and Sumlin had some problems with their plumbing in the bathroom the week before, so they had told the manager about it. RP 226. Church had thought, however, that the manager had already fixed it. RP 226.

At trial, she would claim things seemed "a little off," but she went back to working on her computer anyway as he went into the bathroom, carrying a sort of utility bag. RP 231.

From the bathroom, he started making conversation, asking her name and where she was from. RP 232. Although at trial she said she was not "comfortable" with the questions, she answered them and the conversation went on. RP 233. Church said she "felt bad" because, when he asked her name, she had said, "why do you need to know that" and he had then responded, "oh, I'm sorry. I'm just trying to make conversation."

RP 233.

According to Church, the questions were personal, so at some point she brought up that she had a boyfriend. RP 233. He continued talking, however, and she focused back on her work. RP 234. He then said he was going to check the pipes in the kitchen. RP 234. After a moment she realized there was no problem with the pipes in the kitchen, so she started to think he was not a maintenance man. RP 234.

According to Church, the man then came out of the kitchen holding a wrench. RP 234. He sat down on the bed next to her, "stroking the wrench." RP 234. Church said he looked at her for a moment, touched her hair and started massaging her shoulder and said, "you look tense." RP 235.

Church did a karate-type chop in the air between them and said, "you need to stop." RP 235. She was concerned because, from where she was sitting, she would not be able to get to the door without going by him. RP 235, 238. He then asked if she was happy in her relationship and whether she would call him if he gave her his number. RP 237. When she said she was very happy and would not call, he said she had very nice feet, looking at them and then trying to grab and massage one. RP 238. Church put her hand in the air and said again, "[y]ou really need to stop." RP 238.

At that point, the man immediately dropped her foot and stared at her for a second. RP 238. She said, "you need to focus on your work, and I need to focus on what I'm doing." RP 238. He then got up and went back to the bathroom. RP 239.

Church shut her computer, got her shoes, purse, and the proof of

her book, put the proof in a bag, and then, after that, went out the door. RP 239. As she was leaving, she said, the man asked if her boyfriend "goes down" on her because "he would." RP 240. She did not respond, instead just running out. RP 240.

At trial, Church admitted that she personally believes that the most "common crime to happen to women is that they be raped," and she has written about that belief in her "blog." RP 262-63. She still did not think she might have misinterpreted the man's intentions that day. RP 264.

Church was running to the stairs when he came out the door and asked, "are you leaving?" RP 240. She did not say anything and thought it was "visible" that she was upset. RP 240. The apartment manager and his wife were at the bottom of the stairs and Church ran down and confronted them, asking, "who are you hiring?" RP 241. After a moment, it was established that the manager had not hired anyone. RP 241. The manager then ran up the stairs towards Church's apartment and the apartment manager's wife called the police. RP 241-42.²

The manager later would pick a picture out of a photographic montage, indicating that he had seen that person that day. RP 373. Church also picked out the same picture, for a man named Kelvin Marshall. RP 248.

Shannon Glen, who lived at the apartment complex, testified that, at about 9 p.m. the night before, she saw someone walk past her when she was outside smoking and did not recognize him as living there. RP 285-

²Although both were apparently subpoenaed, the prosecutor could not find either the manager or his wife to have them testify.

88. Glen's friend then asked the man, "hey, what are you doing," and the man "kind of put his head down and said, 'I'm with maintenance,'" then walked down the stairs and went into a propped-open basement door. RP 288. Glen said the man came out a few minutes later. RP 289.

On cross-examination, Glen admitted that, just the day before, she had told a defense investigator that she had seen the person between 4 and 5 in the late afternoon, before the sun went down. RP 293. She explained her testimony that it was much later by saying the prosecutor had, in the interim, reminded Glen that Glen had told police it was at about 9. RP 293.

Glen thought the man she saw looked young and was tall, skinny and black. RP 290. She did not think she would be able to identify him because it was "such a brief encounter." RP 290. Officers never gave her the opportunity to try, instead not showing her a montage to see if she would think the man she had seen looked at all like Marshall. RP 380.

The morning of the incident, another neighbor in the apartments said he saw someone drive up kind of fast, park, talk on a cell phone and "mill" around his car and another parked vehicle for awhile. RP 301, 314. The man then went to the back door of the apartments, after which he came back, grabbed a duffle bag from the car and got out a crescent wrench. RP 301. The neighbor opined that a crescent wrench was not a proper tool for "pretty much any job" and that it seemed weird to see "a brand new crescent wrench, and this clean cut black kid." RP 301. He saw the kid grab the wrench and appear to call someone on the phone and then the male went out of view. RP 301. About five minutes later, the

apartment manager came running by and the neighbor ultimately pointed the manager and police to the car, telling them about seeing the black "kid." RP 302.

That neighbor was not able to identify Marshall as being involved. RP 308. The car, however, was registered to Marshall, which is why his picture was included in the montage. RP 333.

Sumlin testified that, when he was drinking his tea about five minutes before leaving the home that morning, he had looked out the window and saw someone "sort of pacing" in front of a recreational vehicle, sometimes talking on the phone. RP 273-74, 282. When he and Church spoke after the incident, they thought it might be the same person. RP 279.

The next day, Marshall was arrested. RP 340. He was carrying personal items including a couple of condoms. RP 340. Marshall's wife let police search their home and none of the toolboxes looked like the one Church said Marshall had. RP 370.

Marshall was interrogated by Detectives Keith Miller and Brad Graham of the Tacoma Police Department. RP 355, 360. During the interrogation, an edited transcript of which was read to the jury, Marshall said he had a fight with his wife, left the home and was at the apartment complex talking on the phone to his pastor when some "dude" came out of the apartments and started grabbing at him, apparently mistaking him for

someone else. Ex. 23 at 11-15;³ see RP 365. Marshall told the guy that he had the wrong man and got away. Ex. 23 at 11-16. He ran two blocks and then walked to his house, after which he called his wife to tell her what had happened. Ex. 23 at 11-16. He walked back to get his car and there were police cars there. Ex. 23 at 16.

Over defense objection, the jury would later hear that Officer Miller asked Marshall why he had not talked to police about what had happened right then. Ex. 23 at 16. Marshall responded, "like, I was, I'm tellin' the dude like it's not me and he still, like, um, trying to reach me and stuff[.]" Ex. 23 at 16. He said it was because it had seemed like the guy was chasing somebody, so when the guy grabbed him Marshall had said, "it wasn't me, it's not me." Ex 23 at 17.

At that point, the officers confronted him, saying that neither of them thought he was being "totally honest with us in the first go-around." Ex. 23 at 25. Marshall ultimately told police that he had been in an argument with his wife earlier that day and had gone driving, ending up parked at the apartment complex. Ex. 23 at 23-28. He said that he had been sort of working on his car in the parking lot of the apartment complex, because something was wrong and "probably steering" was making some noise. Ex. 23 at 28, 32. He saw the gate was open at the

³Based on the trial court's pretrial ruling that the statements Marshall made during the interrogation were admissible, the prosecutor had the transcript of that interrogation read into the record. RP 422. There were apparently no objections made in the courtroom while the reading occurred, and the version of the interrogation read to the jury was edited to remove improper matters, such as reference to other allegations. RP 422; see Ex. 23. A supplemental designation of clerk's papers is being filed to have the exhibit transmitted to the Court. Because exhibits are usually not separately indexed as to page when so transmitted, for clarity the page number of the exhibit is used herein.

apartment and was still carrying his tools when he went to the door of the nearby apartment and knocked. Ex. 23 at 28-33. He did not know who would answer and was not sure why he had knocked. <u>Id</u>.

Marshall said that, when Church answered the door, he did not really know what to say, so he said he was the plumber and chatted with her while she directed him to the bathroom. Ex. 23 at 28, 34. She commented on his accent and he told her he was from the Carribean, and she said she had been there on a cruise. Ex. 23 at 28. He asked about it and she said it was with her boyfriend. <u>Id</u>.

Marshall said Church talked about her relationship, how she had met her boyfriend when he was young and they had lived together for two years. Ex. 23 at 29.

Marshall had a CD of Carribean music in his car and asked her if she liked that kind of music. <u>Id.</u> at 28, 41. When she said she did, he went to his car to get it and came back, giving it to her. Ex. 23 at 28. He said she could not get the CD drive to work and was sitting on the bed, so he asked if she wanted help and he sat next to her and showed her how to work it, although it did not end up working. Ex. 23 at 29, 42. Church had gotten a pedicure and put her feet up for him to look at, so he said she had pretty nice toes. Ex. 23 at 29. She was raising her leg up when he touched her toes and started looking at her. Ex. 23 at 40. He also thought he touched her "hair and stuff" from the back, through her shirt. Ex. 23 at 37, 42.

Church said something about how she liked her boyfriend and did not "like cheating on him," so "[l]et's set boundaries." Ex. 23 at 29, 37.

At that point, Marshall ent back to the bathroom to get his bag and leave and then she had her purse and was leaving at the same time. Ex. 23 at 29, 35. He asked where she was going and she said "to Seattle and stuff." Id. He asked her if she wanted him to lock the door and she said, "[y]eah, sure." Ex. 23 at 29.

Marshall thought that, when she left, Church seemed like she was "still good" in terms of her mood. Ex. 23 at 37. Graham asked if she seemed scared and Marshall said, "[h]uh? No, she didn't look like it." Ex. 23 at 38.

Marshall did not know really why he had gone to the door, saying he was frustrated and he and his wife were "just like arguing all the time." Ex. 23 at 43. When asked by Miller what was his "intention" when she opened the door, Marshall said he did not know who was going to answer, who was there and really did not know what to say. <u>Id</u>. He did not know if he was just looking for someone to talk to or not. <u>Id</u>.

Marshall was clear that he was not at the apartment complex the night before. Ex. 23 at 65. He was ultimately arrested after he turned himself in to his first sergeant at Joint Base Lewis-McChord. Ex. 23 at 45.

Officers never tried to verify Marshall's description of what he had been doing the night before the incident. RP 379. It was stipulated that none of Marshall's fingerprints were on the CD or the computer, but Church's were on the CD she claimed never to have seen before. RP 426.

D. ARGUMENT

1. IMPROPER OPINION EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED IN VIOLATION OF MARSHALL'S RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL AND COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to trial by jury. See State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995); Sixth. Amend.; Art. I, § 21. Included in this right is the right to have the jury serve as the "sole judge" of the evidence, the weight of the testimony and the credibility of witnesses. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838. As a result, it is improper to admit evidence about an officer's opinion about the guilt, credibility or veracity of the defendant. See, e.g., State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591-94, 183 P.3d 267 (2005).

In this case, this Court should reverse, because the trial court erred in admitting improper opinion testimony. Further, counsel's unprofessional failures regarding this evidence was ineffective assistance.

a. Relevant facts

Before trial, the parties discussed the transcript of the interrogation of Mr. Marshall, which the prosecution intended to read into evidence. RP 63. Counsel objected to several portions of the transcript, including portions of the transcript on pages 17-19 and page 25, stating that the officers had repeatedly made comments which amounted to improper opinion evidence of Marshall's veracity or guilt. RP 66. On page 25, counsel pointed out, the detective "flat out" expressed his opinion. RP 66.

The court said it thought the case law was "clear" that the officer could not give such testimony at trial but that the cases "are a little bit split on" whether it was inadmissible under these circumstances, when the

evidence came in as part of a recorded interrogation. RP 66. The prosecutor then argued that courts had held that "statements made during the pretrial interview" were not the kind that carried a "special aura of reliability" and thus the evidence was permissible. RP 67.

The section on page 25 was Detective Graham confronting

Marshall and declaring that, "when we left off I told you that I don't
neither one of us thinks that you were being totally honest with us in the

first go around." Ex. 23 at 25.

Pages 17-19 of the transcript contained a monologue by Graham in which he said that officers knew that "there was some more things that went on that day," that they "actually do know" what happened, that he was not hard to identify from his accent, and that he should tell them his version of events. Ex. 23 at 17-18. Detective Graham then went on:

And if you tell us that all you did was stay out out here on the street and you didn't go and talk to anybody, you didn't go into any building, and then later on we can prove, and we will prove, that that's not true, then you're gonna come out looking like a real bad guy. And you mighta had a good reason for going in and it might have been a - an innocent reason for going in. But when you stand up and you give that reason, and you talk to a lawyer and the lawyer says, "Hey, you gotta tell 'em what really happened, and that y - nothing bad went on," or the other person was okay or, or s- whatever it was, you're gonna say that. . . but the problem is that he and I got to come in and go, "Yeah, but. . . we asked Kelvin that, and he said he didn't do any of that. So is he lying then or is he lying now?

Ex. 23 at 18. The officer also said, "I don't think you've been telling us the - the complete truth, have you?" Ex. 23 at 18-19. He also said that Marshall was clearly scared but "not being honest with us is not the way out of this thing" and again said, "you haven't been completely honest,

have you?" Ex. 23 at 73.

Counsel also objected to the statement on the top of page 61 of the transcript where Detective Miller responded to Marshall declining to say he had gone to the apartment with the intent to have sex with Church, saying, "this is your only opportunity to tell us the truth," that neither officer was going to "come and talk" to him again, that "[t]his is it right here." Ex. 23 at 61. Counsel said it indicated the officer's belief that he was not telling the truth on that crucial point. RP 77.

The prosecutor argued that much of the challenged evidence was not improper opinion but rather interrogation technique. RP 75. She agreed, however, on several removals, including one on page 54 where counsel objected to Miller telling Marshall, "I appreciate that you told us for the most part, I think you have told us the truth." RP 75. The prosecutor conceded that, looking at the context, the statement on page 54 should be struck. RP 76.

For the language on page 61, the court said simply, "that section can stay in." RP 77. The judge also said, "[T]he Court will excise on Page 17, 18 and 19... and then leave in that section on Page 25." RP 68. The judge also apparently marked page 17 and "all of 18 and 19, down to the agreed portion on the bottom." RP 68.

Later, however, when the parties talked about what the court had ruled, they disagreed. RP 98. Counsel recalled the court's ruling as excluding the language on page 18 such as "we will prove that that's not true" and the comment about "is he lying now, or is he lying then." RP 98. Counsel again argued that the evidence was improper because it conveyed

the officer's opinion that Marshall was lying. RP 98. The prosecutor apparently thought that the ruling was that the evidence was admitted. RP 98-101. The court said it had already ruled and not excluded those portions. RP 100-101.

The transcript read at trial still contained the officer's declaration to Marshall of the officer's belief that Marshall had "told us the truth" for "the most part." Ex. 23 at 54. It also contained the entire monologue on pages 17-19, including the parts to which counsel had objected, as well as the declaration on page 61.

b. The improper evidence compels reversal, as does counsel's ineffectiveness

The trial court erred and abused its discretion in admitting this improper, prejudicial evidence of the officers' opinions. In State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758-59, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001), a deeply divided Court addressed the question squarely presented here. In that case, at trial, an audiotape of a pretrial interrogation of the defendant was played for the jurors, who were also given a transcript. 144 Wn.2d at 757. During the interrogation, the officer told the defendant he needed to "start tellin' the truth," asked if the defendant was "sure this is the story you wanna stick with," told him he was "lookin' at" multiple charges and, when the defendant said the officers were looking at him and talking to him like he was lying, the officer responded, "[c]ause you are." 144 Wn.2d at 757. The defendant had asked to have those portions of the transcript redacted, as Marshall did here, but the trial court had declined. 144 Wn.2d at 757-58.

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