NO. 44566-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

KELVIN KEON KERVILLE MARSHALL, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Vicki L. Hogan

No. 11-1-03626-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By

KIMBERLEY DEMARCO Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 39218

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Allegedly improper comments are reviewed in the context of the entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument and the instructions given. *State v. Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. 857, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998). A prosecutor is allowed to argue that the evidence does not support a defense theory. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The prosecutor is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel. *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87.

"[I]t is misconduct for a prosecutor to argue that in order to acquit a defendant, the jury must find that the State's witnesses are either lying or mistaken." *State v. Fleming*, 83 Wn. App. 209, 213, 921 P.3d 1076 (1996). Such an argument misrepresents both the role of the jury and the burden of proof by telling jurors they have to decide who is telling the truth and who is lying in order to render a verdict. *State v. Wright*, 76 Wn. App. 811, 826, 888 P.2d 1214 (1995).

Here, defendant attempted to avoid challenging Ms. Church's credibility by arguing that the difference between her testimony and his interview was a matter of interpretation as opposed to one of them lying. RP 463. Then he argued that Ms. Church was overly sensitive or predisposed toward thinking she could be attacked, and misinterpreted defendant's behavior. RP 463. But later he noted that Ms. Church denied talking about a Caribbean cruise or music with defendant and denied seeing the CD that was in her computer. RP 465. He contrasts her testimony with his interview statements, where he stated that they were talking about music and he left the apartment to get the CD out of his car and they put it in the computer together. RP 466-67. Defendant argued that the conversation was "a little bit friendlier" than Ms. Church claimed and that her testimony was "unrealistic." RP 467.

During rebuttal closing, the State addressed defendant's claim that the case was a matter of misinterpretation of events rather than anyone lying. RP 479. The State disagreed and pointed out that one of them has to be lying. RP 479. The prosecutor also stated that it was up to the jury to decide who was telling the truth. RP 479. The prosecutor's statement was not misconduct. Despite stating that neither party lied, defendant argued that Ms. Church was lying - not misinterpreting - about not talking about music, not talking about a cruise, and not having seen the CD before. The State was entitled to make a fair response to this argument. The prosecutor's statement did not suggest that, in order to acquit defendant the jury had to find that the State's witnesses lied. Rather, the State argued that only one version of the event was true and that it was for the jury to determine which one.

Reviewed in the context, the prosecutor's statement was not misconduct.

3. DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT HIS COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT OR PREJUDICIAL.

The right to effective assistance of counsel is the right "to require the prosecution's case to survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing." *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 656, 104 S. Ct. 2045, 80 L. Ed. 2d 657 (1984). When such a true adversarial proceeding has been conducted, even if defense counsel made demonstrable errors in judgment or tactics, the testing envisioned by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution has occurred. *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 656. "The essence of an ineffective-assistance claim is that counsel's unprofessional errors so upset the adversarial balance between defense and prosecution that the trial was rendered unfair and the verdict rendered suspect." *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 374, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 2582, 91 L. Ed. 2d 305 (1986).

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must satisfy the two-prong test laid out in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); see also State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). First, a defendant must demonstrate that his attorney's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Second, a defendant must show that he or she was prejudiced by the deficient representation. Prejudice exists if "there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); see also Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695 ("When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the fact finder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt."). Defects in assistance that have no probable effect upon the trial's outcome do not establish a constitutional violation. Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 122 S. Ct. 1237, 152 L. Ed. 2d 29 (2002).

There is a strong presumption that a defendant received effective representation. *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995), *cert. denied*, 516 U.S. 1121, 116 S. Ct. 931, 133 L. Ed. 2d 858 (1996); *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 226. A defendant carries the burden of demonstrating that there was no legitimate strategic or tactical rationale for the challenged attorney conduct. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 336.

The standard of review for effective assistance of counsel is whether, after examining the whole record, the court can conclude that defendant received effective representation and a fair trial. *State v. Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d 263, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988). An appellate court is unlikely to find ineffective assistance on the basis of one alleged mistake. *State v. Carpenter*, 52 Wn. App. 680, 684-685, 763 P.2d 455 (1988).

Judicial scrutiny of a defense attorney's performance must be "highly deferential in order to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. The reviewing court must judge the reasonableness of counsel's actions "on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690; *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 633, 845 P.2d 289 (1993).

What decision [defense counsel] may have made if he had more information at the time is exactly the sort of Mondaymorning quarterbacking the contemporary assessment rule forbids. It is meaningless...for [defense counsel] now to claim that he would have done things differently if only he had more information. With more information, Benjamin Franklin might have invented television.

Hendricks v. Calderon, 70 F.3d 1032, 1040 (9th Cir. 1995). As the
Supreme Court has stated "The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight."
Yarborough v. Gentry, 540 U.S. 1, 8, 124 S. Ct. 1, 157 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2003).

"If trial counsel's conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics, it cannot serve as a basis for a claim that the defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel." *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002) (citing *State v. Adams*, 91 Wn.2d 86, 90, 586 P.2d 1168 (1978)). Courts can presume counsel did not request limiting instructions to avoid reemphasizing damaging evidence. *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. 66, 90, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009); *State v. Price*, 126 Wn. App. 617, 649, 109 P.3d 27, *review denied*, 155 Wn.2d 1018, 124 P.3d 659 (2005); *State v. Barragan*, 102 Wn. App. 754, 762, 9 P.3d 942 (2000); *State v. Donald*, 68 Wn. App. 543, 551, 844 P.2d 447, *review denied*, 121 Wn.2d 1024, 854 P.2d 1084 (1993).

A defendant must demonstrate both prongs of the *Strickland* test, but a reviewing court is not required to address both prongs of the test if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either prong. *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Here, defendant claims his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper opinion testimony and failing to object to the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument. Defendant has failed to show either prong of the *Strickland* test.

First, defendant cannot show deficient performance. Counsel did object to the detectives' statements⁵ contained within the interview. RP 62-77. Not only was the issue preserved for appeal, but there was a legitimate trial tactic for not objecting during the reading of the transcript itself. By not objecting, counsel did not draw additional attention to those statements. Unlike testimony where a timely objection could put a stop to improper questions, this was a reading of a transcript where counsel knew exactly what information would be given to the jury. Counsel also knew that the prosecutor could not take advantage of the statements by following up with improper questions while they were reading the transcript. Also, as argued above, neither the detectives' statements nor

⁵ As part of his argument, defendant claims that counsel failed to object to the "for the most part" comment and that the prosecutor agreed to strike it. Appellant's Brief at 22. However, a review of the record shows that the State never agreed to striking that statement. The "for the most part" comment occurred on page 54 of the transcribed interview. Exhibit 23 (54). The only portion of page 54 the State agreed to striking was defendant's statement "I mean, you don't have to believe me," and Detective Graham's response, "[w]ell I - that part I don't believe you, no." RP 71. Those statements were excised from the transcript. Exhibit 23 (54). The pages cited in defendant's brief show the State having no objection to striking portions of pages 57 and 59. RP 75-76.

the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument were improper. Failing to object to proper argument is not deficient performance.

Second, defendant has failed to show prejudice. Even if the transcript had been excised as requested by counsel and the jury instructed to disregard the prosecutor's argument, the outcome of the trial would not have been different. While defendant's theory of the case was that his entry into Ms. Church's apartment was innocent, the uncontrovered evidence showed that defendant used a ruse to enter (Exhibit 23 (28); RP 229), touched her while inside the apartment (Exhibit 23 (29); RP 234, 238), and had a crescent wrench in his hand while he was inside the apartment (Exhibit 23 (33); RP 234). Moreover, defendant admitted that when he left the apartment, he abandoned his car because he saw police around it. Exhibit 23 (45). Defendant's theory that he pretended to be a plumber to get inside an apartment just to talk to a nice girl was wholly incredible and the outcome of the case would not have changed had counsel objected.

Finally, defendant's focus on two instances within the entire trial is not the correct standard to review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. The appropriate standard is to review counsel's performance in light of the entire record. A review of the entire record shows that defense counsel subjected the State's case to meaningful, adversarial testing. He

- 23 -

challenged the admission of defendant's statements to the police. RP 56. He moved for redactions of the statements based on ER 404(b) and improper opinion testimony. RP 62-77, 97-101. He argued for redaction of a portion of the 911 call, which was ultimately not played for the jury. RP 107-08. Counsel made appropriate objections, cross-examined witnesses, and made a closing argument. He moved for directed verdict for the assault in the fourth degree charge at the close of the State's case, which was granted by the court. RP 428. He proposed jury instructions for lesser-included crimes, which would have reduced the conviction from a class A felony to a misdemeanor. RP 401-04. Defendant received constitutionally effective assistance of counsel.

4. THE TRIAL COURT EXCEEDED ITS STATUTORY AUTHORITY IN PART WHEN IT IMPOSED CONDITION 21 AS CONDITIONS ON DEFENDANT'S COMMUNITY CUSTODY BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT DIRECTLY RELATED TO DEFENDANT'S CRIME.

A trial court's statutory authority to impose specific community custody conditions is subject to de novo review. *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). If a challenged condition is statutorily authorized, the imposition of crime-related prohibitions for abuse of discretion is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d at 110. Conditions that do not reasonably relate to the circumstances of the crime, to the risk of reoffense, or to public safety are unlawful unless explicitly permitted by statute. *See State v. Jones*, 118 Wn. App. 199, 207–08, 76 P.3d 258 (2003). "Although the trial court's prohibition on conduct ... during community custody must be directly related to the crime, it need not be causally related to the crime." *State v. Zimmer*, 146 Wn. App. 405, 413, 190 P.3d 121 (2008).

a. <u>The trial court did not exceed its authority</u> by prohibiting defendant from unlawfully possessing controlled substances.

Under RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c), trial courts may order that offenders "[r]efrain from possessing or consuming controlled substances except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions."

Defendant challenges condition 13, arguing that "licensed physicians" are not the only lawful prescription writers. Appellant's brief at 30. While defendant is correct that other medical personnel may write valid prescriptions, Conditions 3 and 4 state:

3) Not consume controlled substances or alcohol, except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions;

4) While on community custody do not unlawfully possess controlled substances;

CP 217-19. Clearly defendant's community custody conditions provide for prescriptions written by medical professionals other than physicians. At most, Condition 13 may be stricken as it is redundant.

> b. <u>The trial court exceeded its authority in part</u> by prohibiting defendant from patronizing establishments that promote the commercialization of sex as under condition <u>27</u>.

A sentencing court has the authority to impose conditions on a

defendant's community custody that require him to obey a community's

laws, regardless of whether the condition relates to the circumstances of

defendant's conviction. See State v. Jones, 118 Wn. App. 199, 205-06,

76 P.3d 258 (2003) (finding that the trial court did not err when it ordered

defendant to engage in "law abiding behavior"). In Washington, it is a

misdemeanor to patronize a prostitute. See RCW 9A.88.110.6

Condition 21 has three, distinct requirements:

Do not possess or peruse any sexually explicit materials in any medium. Your sexual deviancy treatment provider will

⁶ RCW 9A.88.110 states:

A person is guilty of patronizing a prostitute if:

⁽a) Pursuant to a prior understanding, he or she pays a fee to another person as compensation for such person or a third person having engaged in sexual conduct with him or her; or

⁽b) He or she pays or agrees to pay a fee to another person pursuant to an understanding that in return therefore such person will engage in sexual conduct with him or her; or

⁽c) He or she solicits or requests another person to engage in sexual conduct with him or her in return for a fee.

define sexually explicit material. Do not patronize prostitutes or establishments that promote the commercialization of sex.

CP 217-19.

The first, that defendant not possess or peruse any sexually explicit material should be struck as it is not crime related. Nothing in the trial suggests that defendant showed Ms. Church any sexually explicit material or that he perused such material before committing his crime.

In the second, the trial court properly ordered the defendant to comply with the community's laws and avoid patronizing prostitutes. The trial court's order in this regard is neither manifestly unreasonable nor based on untenable grounds.

For the third section of Condition 21, the trial court did exceed its statutory authority by prohibiting the defendant from patronizing establishments that promote the commercialization of sex, insofar as those institutions comply with the law. The record does not include any evidence that defendant's activities with such establishments were directly related to his crime. The State requests that the issue be remanded with instructions to strike the first sentence of Condition 21, that defendant not "possess or peruse sexually explicit material in any medium," and the last portion, that defendant not patronize "establishments that promote the commercialization of sex." 5. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO CONSIDER DEFENDANT'S ARGUMENT REGARDING FORFIETURE OF PROPERTY AS HE FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE FORFEITURE BELOW AND HAS NOT ATTEMPTED TO RECOVER ANY OF THE PROPERTY TO WHICH HE MIGHT BE ENTITLED.

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